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          1  COMMITTEE ON GOVERNMENTAL OPERATIONS

          2                 CHAIRPERSON FELDER: I just want to

          3  introduce the legal counsel for the Governmental Ops

          4  Committee, DeNora Johnson, who is sitting to my

          5  right; Mike Castano (phonetic), my legislative aid,

          6  who is sitting to my left, and Sheila Horgan, the

          7  policy analyst for the Committee who will be here

          8  very soon. She is making copies for you.

          9                 Good afternoon, and welcome to the

         10  hearing of the Committee on Governmental Operations.

         11  I am Simcha Felder, Chair of the Committee, and I am

         12  joined by my colleagues. I'll start from my left,

         13  Council Member Leroy Comrie, Domenic Recchia, Helen

         14  Sears, Erik Dilan, Robert Jackson, Joseph Oddo, no,

         15  Joseph, it is a religious thing; Sara Gonzalez and

         16  then back to the front, Vincent Gentile, Michael

         17  Nelson, Tony Avella, Gale Brewer and Darlene Mealy,

         18  Oliver Koppell, Joel Rivera and Inez Dickens. I

         19  would never forget Inez Dickens. Never. I said Joel

         20  Rivera, but I'll say it twice. No, I might forget. I

         21  apologize to my colleagues, for some reason I

         22  forget. I have no reason why.

         23                 Today the Committee will hear

         24  testimony regarding Intro No. 458, which as the

         25  Speaker will indicate when she comes up to make her
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          2  comments, would amend various sections of the New

          3  York City Charter to implement the salary increases

          4  proposed by the Mayor and his 2006 Advisory

          5  Commission to review the compensation levels of

          6  elected officials.

          7                 I applaud the Commission and the

          8  Mayor for their efforts in this regard and support

          9  their recommendations for salary increases for all

         10  of the City's elected officials.

         11                 First, the City's elected officials

         12  have not received a pay raise in over seven years.

         13  During those seven years, there has been an

         14  substantial increase in the responsibility of all

         15  elected officials and also in the cost of living in

         16  New York City which we all know is one of the most

         17  expensive cities in the world. While some may argue

         18  that it is unfair for Council Members to vote

         19  themselves a raise, I want to make it very clear

         20  that this pay increase is for all the City's elected

         21  officials; District Attorneys, the Borough

         22  Presidents, the Comptroller, the Public Advocate,

         23  the Mayor and, of course, members of the City

         24  Council who I believe work tirelessly every day on

         25  behalf of all New Yorkers.
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          2                 Further, as the Commission indicated

          3  in the report, all elected officials in the City

          4  have not received a pay increase in over seven

          5  years. So we must institute the Commission's

          6  proposed salary recommendations now and instead of

          7  waiting another four years until 2010 when most of

          8  the elected officials who should benefit from those

          9  raises would no longer be in office due to term

         10  limits.

         11                 In addition to pay increases for

         12  elected officials, the Commission urged the Council

         13  or a Charter Revision Commission to consider three

         14  other reform measures for future City Councils.

         15  First, the Commission recommended a review of

         16  Council stipends for Committee Chairs and Leadership

         17  positions. Second, the Commission proposed a review

         18  of part- time status afforded Council Members.

         19  Third, the Commission suggested a reform in the

         20  timing of pay raises in the future. While the

         21  Commission recognized a need for an immediate pay

         22  increase now, it did suggest that in the future, pay

         23  raises should take effect after the subsequent

         24  election. That wasn't my quote. That was the

         25  Commission's quote.
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          2                 Before we begin formal testimony, I'd

          3  like to thank the Administration, elected officials,

          4  advocacy groups and other interested parties who

          5  came today especially with the weather outside. I'd

          6  like to first call the distinguished District

          7  Attorney from Queens, District Attorney Brown to the

          8  table for the first witness. I just want to

          9  introduce Council Member Fidler who joined us and

         10  also to mention that if there is anyone in the

         11  audience that wants to speak, they should please see

         12  the Sergeant- at- Arms who is waving his arm over

         13  there, fill out the forms so you can testify later.

         14  Whenever you are ready.

         15                 DISTRICT ATTORNEY BROWN: I want to

         16  thank you, Mr. Chairman and the members of your

         17  Committee as well as Speaker Quinn for the

         18  opportunity to testify today in support of the

         19  Bernstein Commission's recommendation to increase

         20  the salaries of the five district attorneys of New

         21  York City. It has been pointed out that the

         22  Administrative Code contemplates that a Commission

         23  be created every four years to review the

         24  compensation of elected officials, including the

         25  District Attorneys, to ensure that our compensation
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          2  reflects the important work that we do.

          3                 As part of that review, the

          4  Commission has considered a number of factors

          5  including salary trends for positions with similar

          6  responsibilities, the length of time since the last

          7  increase, changes in the cost of living and the

          8  compression of salary levels for others in our

          9  offices. After reviewing these and other factors,

         10  the Commission has recommended that the salaries of

         11  the City's five District Attorney's be raised to

         12  $190,000 per annum. We, and I speak not just for

         13  myself, but on behalf of my four other colleagues as

         14  well, believe that the proposed increase is both

         15  justified and appropriate and the enhanced salary

         16  reflects the significant duties and responsibilities

         17  of our offices. We also agree with the Commission's

         18  conclusion that the higher compensation level will

         19  assist us in attracting and retaining attorneys of

         20  the highest caliber.

         21                 As we noted in our written

         22  presentation to the Commission, a copy of which is

         23  appended to the Commission's report, the work

         24  performed by our offices is critically important to

         25  insuring public safety and contributes to the
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          2  economic vitality of our City. As the Chief Law

          3  Enforcement Officers of our respective counties, we

          4  bear the primary responsibility for prosecuting

          5  thousands of crimes, from quality of life crimes

          6  that are the subject of the great community interest

          7  and concern to violent crimes such as homicides,

          8  robberies, and burglaries and sexual assaults and

          9  sophisticated white collar crimes as well.

         10                 The public relies upon us to see to

         11  it that justice is done in all cases involving

         12  criminal conduct; including cases involving official

         13  misconduct and corruption. We also conduct long term

         14  investigations that help to dismantle organized

         15  criminal enterprises and we recover substantial

         16  amounts of money on behalf of both the City and the

         17  State. And we are responsible, as well, for handling

         18  criminal appeals at all levels of both our State and

         19  Federal court systems.

         20                 Beyond our core responsibilities, we

         21  have a broader role. We must respond rapidly to

         22  crime trends to handle upsurges in crime such as

         23  identify theft, child abuse, gang violence and gun

         24  trafficking. We have got to meet new

         25  responsibilities posed in the post 9/11 world. And
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          2  all the while we continue to involve ourselves in

          3  operating school programs, drug treatment courts and

          4  so many other initiatives aimed at preventing crime.

          5  And, as the Commission noted in its report, we carry

          6  ancillary responsibilities which include extraditing

          7  criminals from outside the State, working with crime

          8  victims to help them secure the fullest measure of

          9  redress allowed by law and advising various other

         10  law enforcement agencies.

         11                 Our offices are among the largest law

         12  firms in the City. We supervise hundreds of lawyers,

         13  investigators, paralegals and support staff. We have

         14  budgets in the tens of millions of dollars. And

         15  since crimes may occur at any time of the day or

         16  night, our offices operate virtually around the

         17  clock, seven days a week, with multiple shifts of

         18  personnel responding to crime scenes and processing

         19  cases.

         20                 Given our large workload and

         21  significant responsibilities, I think it is fair to

         22  say that the salary currently being paid to the

         23  City's District Attorneys does not adequately

         24  reflect the responsibilities that we have nor the

         25  work that we do. In addition, because the Commission
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          2  convened later than mandated by law, our salary has

          3  remained unchanged for the past seven years. During

          4  that time, as the Commission has pointed out, the

          5  consumer price index has risen by 25 percent.

          6                 The Commission also notes in its

          7  report that our current salaries are not in line

          8  with other public sector salaries. Indeed, it is

          9  pointed out by the Commission, there are some 350

         10  other public employees who earn higher salaries. And

         11  in the private sector, many of our City's law firms

         12  pay their first year associates annual salaries

         13  above those being paid at the present time to the

         14  elected District Attorneys. The Commission also took

         15  into account, as well, the fact that our State

         16  Supreme Court justices, whose salaries set the

         17  statutory minimum for District Attorneys salaries in

         18  the State, are seeking substantial salary increases

         19  from the State Legislature.

         20                 Of particular importance to the

         21  Commission in making its recommendation is the

         22  negative impact that our present salaries have had

         23  on our ability to attract and retain the brightest

         24  and most talented attorneys available. The

         25  Commission concluded that among the reasons that the
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          2  salaries of the District Attorneys should be raised

          3  is in order to significantly ease salary compression

          4  and to strengthen retention and recruitment within

          5  our offices, consistent with the efforts of the New

          6  York City Law Department which similarly maintains a

          7  large legal staff of more than 700 attorneys. We

          8  agree.

          9                 Finally, as is highlighted in the

         10  Commission's report, its recommendation are

         11  supported by the economic and compensation data that

         12  they reviewed. Moreover, as it is demonstrated in

         13  the Commission's report, the proposed increase

         14  essentially places us where we would be if we had

         15  received either periodic cost of living adjustments

         16  or increases similar to those provided over the past

         17  several years to other City workers.

         18                 My colleagues and I very much

         19  appreciate the careful review undertaken by the

         20  Commission and wholeheartedly support its

         21  recommendation. We thank the Council for the

         22  opportunity to present our thoughts. We hope that

         23  which we have said has been helpful and, of course,

         24  we would be happy to provide any additional

         25  information that will assist you in your review.
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          2                 CHAIRPERSON FELDER: Thank you very

          3  much. Do any of my colleagues have any questions for

          4  the witness? Council Member Jackson.

          5                 COUNCIL MEMBER JACKSON: Thank you,

          6  Mr. Chair. District Attorney Brown, let me thank you

          7  for coming in. I have seen you on many occasions

          8  before here at the City Council during the budget

          9  process advocating for increase in the budget

         10  allocations on behalf of yourself and all of the

         11  people of Queens and your colleagues. But I

         12  understand today that you are here to give testimony

         13  not only on behalf of your self, but you are also

         14  speaking representing all the other District

         15  Attorneys including Manhattan, Bronx, Brooklyn, and

         16  Staten Island?

         17                 DISTRICT ATTORNEY BROWN: I am.

         18                 COUNCIL MEMBER JACKSON: And I think

         19  it is the Narcotics Prosecutor also, I believe she

         20  is that category.

         21                 DISTRICT ATTORNEY BROWN: Well, she

         22  doesn't get her salary directly by reason of this

         23  legislation. But she will enjoy an increased salary

         24  as a result of the fact that the City's five

         25  District Attorney's will increase their salary.
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          2                 COUNCIL MEMBER JACKSON: So you are

          3  here speaking this evening in front of the

          4  Government Operations Committee is not only on your

          5  behalf, but on behalf of all the District Attorneys?

          6                 DISTRICT ATTORNEY BROWN: That's

          7  correct.

          8                 COUNCIL MEMBER JACKSON: Thank you

          9  very much and thank you for taking the time to come

         10  and express your view points about this very

         11  important matter.

         12                 DISTRICT ATTORNEY BROWN: Thank you.

         13                 COUNCIL MEMBER JACKSON: Thank you,

         14  Mr. Chair.

         15                 CHAIRPERSON FELDER: Any other

         16  questions? I thank you very much for coming.

         17                 DISTRICT ATTORNEY BROWN: My pleasure.

         18  Thank you.

         19                 CHAIRPERSON FELDER: The Speaker of

         20  the City Council, we've been joined by Speaker Quinn

         21  who will make some comments.

         22                 SPEAKER QUINN: Thank you. I want to

         23  thank all of my colleagues for being here tonight

         24  and the members of the public who are here to

         25  testify. I just want to make known for folks, we
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          2  started this hearing somewhere close to 4:30, the

          3  start time, and we are having it into the evening

          4  hours and hope that it will make it easier for

          5  people who would like to come who are working during

          6  the day to join us. I think this is one of the first

          7  times there has been a question of Council pay

          8  raises where we have afforded New Yorkers that

          9  opportunity which I think is appropriate.

         10                 Today, we are going to take up and

         11  hear for the first time (there will not be a vote

         12  today), the recommendations on salary increases for

         13  New York City elected officials. The recommendations

         14  that were sent to us via the Mayor that were sent to

         15  him by the Quadrennial Commission. The Council has

         16  not had a raise in its salary, nor have any of the

         17  other elected officials, the District Attorneys, the

         18  Comptroller, the Borough President, the Public

         19  Advocate, in seven years, although the law states

         20  that it should be more frequent than that.

         21                 Obviously, the discussion of salary

         22  increases were delayed because of the fiscal

         23  constraints that the City was in after September 11.

         24  It was appropriate to do so. But thank goodness, we

         25  are in a different financial position at this
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          2  moment. I believe it is extraordinarily appropriate

          3  that we are looking at the issue of salary increases

          4  for all elected officials. Though, of course, the

          5  Speaker of the City Council, I feel no disrespect,

          6  judged most strongly about the salary increases for

          7  members of the City Council. We are an incredibly

          8  active legislative body, charged with a tremendous

          9  number of responsibilities. Not the least is which

         10  being partners with the Mayor and passing and

         11  adopting and changing and crafting and developing

         12  the fourth largest budget in this country.

         13                 There is a budget of the country, the

         14  State of California, the State of New York and then

         15  the City of New York. We do that on a regular basis

         16  and on an on-time way and most recently have said we

         17  are going to do it better than we have done before

         18  and in a way that's been infused with a tremendous

         19  amount of budget reform. We're also, I think, if you

         20  ask anyone out there, one of the legislative bodies

         21  in this country that does the most aggressive

         22  oversight and has an incredibly full legislative

         23  calendar. I think all of those put together on top

         24  of the constituent work that our offices do on a

         25  regular basis makes this salary increase more than
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          2  appropriate and overdue.

          3                 I look forward to hearing all the

          4  testimony from folks tonight, but I feel very

          5  strongly that these are a fair set of

          6  recommendations for the Council and all of the

          7  elected officials and look forward to their

          8  implementation.

          9                 I want to thank the Chair of our Gov.

         10  Ops Committee for his work on this matter and for

         11  the hearing he is convening tonight.

         12                 CHAIRPERSON FELDER: Thank you very

         13  much. I like to call on Fong Chan who is

         14  representing Comptroller Bill Thompson to come up.

         15                 MR. CHAN: Thanks. Good afternoon,

         16  Chairman Felder. Good afternoon, honorable members

         17  of the Governmental Operations Committee and other

         18  honorable members of the City Council. Comptroller

         19  apologizes for not being able to attend today's

         20  hearing, but has asked me to present the following

         21  short statement in support of Intro 458 on his

         22  behalf. Thank you for the opportunity to testify on

         23  behalf of Comptroller Thompson.

         24                 From the outset, I would like to

         25  state that Comptroller Thompson supports the passage
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          2  of Intro 458 to amend the City Charter in relation

          3  to the compensation of elected officials. Under the

          4  City's Administrative Code, an Advisory Commission

          5  for the review of compensation levels of elected

          6  officials is mandated to conduct a review every four

          7  years for the positions of Mayor, the Public

          8  Advocate, members of the City Council, Borough

          9  Presidents, the Comptroller and District Attorneys.

         10                 During the fiscal crisis of 2003,

         11  however, a Commission was not convened. As a result,

         12  the last pay increase for these positions was

         13  enacted in 1999. An analysis of the pay plan actions

         14  for City employees since then reveals that the

         15  currently proposed pay increases are in line with

         16  those received by City employees at the managerial

         17  level during the same time period.

         18                 Comptroller Thompson recognizes that

         19  setting the pay rate for government officials can be

         20  an awkward public exercise. However, we must also

         21  recognize the necessity of adjusting the

         22  compensation in a fair manner. While those who enter

         23  public service do not do so for financial gain, it

         24  is in the City's best interest to ensure that the

         25  compensation for public officials does not fall too
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          2  far behind salaries in the private sector. In doing

          3  so, we make it possible for the City to continue

          4  attracting talented and able leaders. The process is

          5  sound and proper. The rate increase is appropriate.

          6  For these reasons, Comptroller Thompson supports the

          7  passage of Intro 458. Thank you very much.

          8                 CHAIRPERSON FELDER: Thank you. Do any

          9  of my colleagues have any questions? Thank you very

         10  much.

         11                 MR. CHAN: Thank you.

         12                 CHAIRPERSON FELDER: Councilman

         13  Avella, you wanted to speak on this matter?

         14                 COUNCIL MEMBER AVELLA: Thank you, Mr.

         15  Chair, for this opportunity to address the members

         16  of the Committee and my fellow colleagues. As you

         17  know, I am of a different opinion than the

         18  leadership and yourself on this bill. Although, I

         19  have given you a fax copy, I want to give you an

         20  original copy of an amendment that I would like to

         21  make to the bill. I will basically describe what

         22  they are. Basically three things. One, I personally

         23  feel it is unethical for this body to increase its

         24  own salary. I don't think that's appropriate. I

         25  think if we really believe that the payroll is
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          2  meritorious, then we should be doing it for the next

          3  class of Council Members which will take office in

          4  2010.

          5                 Second, as you know because I'm the

          6  only one in the Council who has refused their lulu.

          7  I believe lulus, the stipends, are basically

          8  anti-good government. If we are making the argument

          9  that $90,000 isn't enough and the salary increase is

         10  necessary, then let us do away with the lulus. I

         11  know for myself, I consider it an honor to be Chair

         12  of the Zoning Committee. I don't need to be paid

         13  more money to do that job.

         14                 Third, in terms of full as opposed to

         15  part- time. There is legislation in the Council

         16  already to make the position full- time. If we

         17  really believe that Council Members deserve more

         18  than the $90,000, then let us do the right thing.

         19  Let us make it a full- time position. Let us

         20  eliminate the lulus and let's make it for the next

         21  class of Council Members.  I in good conscience

         22  cannot vote for any bill that wouldn't include those

         23  sections. Thank you, Mr. Chair.

         24                 CHAIRPERSON FELDER: I thank you very

         25  much for coming. I just want for the record to
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          2  mention that since you are not a member of the

          3  Committee, under the rules of the Council, I will be

          4  honored to put your amendments into the record and

          5  it will be taken up at the next Committee meeting. I

          6  will take the pay increase. Kathryn Wylde, please.

          7                 MS. WYLDE: I'm Kathryn Wylde,

          8  President of the Partnership for New York City's

          9  Business Leadership Organization. I'm here to

         10  testify on behalf of that organization. We support

         11  the recommendations of the Mayor's Advisory

         12  Commission and it is a long standing policy at the

         13  Partnership that public official salaries should be

         14  set by an open and independent process which we

         15  consider this to be.

         16                 Three years ago, the Partnership

         17  undertook a survey of public and private

         18  compensation to understand and make a comparison in

         19  terms of comparable compensation in municipal

         20  government and in comparable private sector jobs for

         21  people equally qualified. At that time we found in

         22  terms of total compensation including salaries,

         23  benefits, pensions, that actually in the low skilled

         24  workforce, people working for the City did better

         25  than the private sector.
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          2                 As you moved up the line in terms of

          3  higher levels of responsibility within City

          4  government, you began to get a serious discrepancy

          5  where people at the higher levels of responsibility

          6  were not paid or compensated in terms of their own

          7  compensation anything like what comparably skilled

          8  people were paid in the private sector. On that

          9  basis, I think the increases recommended are in fact

         10  bringing more into line the compensation levels both

         11  within City government in terms of levels of

         12  responsibility and between the City public and

         13  private sector.

         14                 We also, I guess want to mention that

         15  the kind of horse trading that goes on in terms of

         16  the negotiation of salaries in Albany is one that we

         17  found highly objectionable where rather than on the

         18  merits issues are traded for salary increases

         19  particularly with the legislature. We are

         20  recommending a similar kind of program and process

         21  to the Quadrennial Commission. We're supporting

         22  Judge Judith Kay's legislation that would establish

         23  a Quadrennial Commission process for State officials

         24  that we think is very important enact as soon as

         25  possibly, hopefully this year. With that in mind, we
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          2  again endorse what you are doing here today and hope

          3  that the State undertakes a similar program. Thank

          4  you.

          5                 CHAIRPERSON FELDER: Thank you very

          6  much. Do any of my colleagues?

          7                 SPEAKER QUINN: I just want to thank

          8  Kathy for taking the time to come and testify today

          9  and also thank Kathy, I said this recently when

         10  Kathy was getting honored by Citizens Union; that

         11  when I got elected ten months ago, Kathy made the

         12  huge mistake of saying call on her whenever I needed

         13  to for help or advice on how to strengthen the

         14  Council's relationship with the business community.

         15  I think pretty soon my number is going to be blocked

         16  from her phones, but I want to thank her so much for

         17  all her help and for being here today.

         18                 MS. WYLDE: Thank you.

         19                 CHAIRPERSON FELDER: The next two

         20  witnesses, Gene Russianoff from NYPIRG and Dick

         21  Dadey from Citizens Union, please.

         22                 MR. RUSSIANOFF: Good evening, Mr.

         23  Chairman and members of the Committee and members of

         24  the Council. My name is Gene Russianoff and I'm with

         25  the New York Public Interest Research Group. NYPIRG
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          2  believes that any increase in salaries for City

          3  elected officials should be tied to action on

          4  related reforms. And there are three in particular

          5  we would urge you to consider.

          6                 The first is the issue of full- time

          7  service for Council Members. There is language in

          8  the City Charter that allows the Quadrennial

          9  Commission to consider the issue of full- time

         10  versus part- time status and in its final report,

         11  the Commission notes that Council Members are the

         12  only officials in the City, "to have the ability to

         13  serve part- time" and that most Council Members do

         14  not earn outside income, while some earn salaries

         15  far in excess of their Council salaries. The

         16  Commission concluded we believe that the issues of

         17  outside income merit further examination by a future

         18  Charter Revision Commission or should there be

         19  support among the members by the Council itself.

         20                 The vast majority of the Council

         21  Members serve full- time, devoting all their time

         22  and attention to the Council's work. Why not follow

         23  the pattern in other legislatures of limiting the

         24  amount of outside income that can be earned? That

         25  would allow Council Members to have some additional
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          2  employment experience, but insure that they serve

          3  largely full- time.

          4                 The second issue is one of timing. It

          5  has been discussed here earlier in the day. The

          6  cycles of the Commission ensure that salary

          7  decisions for elected officials will be made

          8  relatively early in the terms of these officials,

          9  long before the public has an electoral say. Why not

         10  follow the pattern in other legislatures of making

         11  raises prospective, for the next round of officials?

         12  To us that makes more sense under term limits,

         13  allowing members to know while they are running what

         14  salary they can expect. The Salary Commission

         15  largely agrees with prohibiting the practice of

         16  Council Members voting to raise their salaries

         17  during their terms.

         18                 And finally, the third is the issue

         19  of Council stipends. Committee chairs, sub-

         20  committee chairs, and Council leaders all have their

         21  salaries increased by these stipends in exchange for

         22  their committee work. I believe currently 47 members

         23  of the Council of the 51 receive stipends. Why not

         24  have salary increases be tied to the elimination of

         25  stipends, which are often used to punish or reward
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          2  members and challenge their independence? Here, said

          3  the Salary Commission, was an "area of ripe for

          4  reform." The commission noted that outside of New

          5  York, almost no other City Council or State

          6  legislature distributes such stipends nor are they

          7  distributed in Congress, where senior members who

          8  chair powerful committees receive the same

          9  compensation as freshman legislators.

         10                 In conclusion, those are issues that

         11  we would like you to consider as you move forward on

         12  the issue of your salary increase and that for other

         13  elected officials. Thank you.

         14                 CHAIRPERSON FELDER: Do any of my

         15  colleagues have any questions? I just wanted to

         16  thank you very much for coming. The work that your

         17  organization does is wonderful. But you mentioned

         18  two things, if I may, you said something about the

         19  Council itself. Now when we got elected, the

         20  Commission was suppose to meet on 2003 which meant

         21  that somebody like Council Member Felder expected

         22  that the Commission would meet. Whatever that would

         23  happen as a result of that meeting, something would

         24  happen in 2003. The members, most of the members I

         25  should say at least, that are in the body today
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          2  expected that the Commission would meet in 2003 and

          3  there would be some result of that Commission's

          4  finding. Unfortunately, due to budgetary constraints

          5  that never happened. The argument that you made in

          6  your testimony about not doing it but rather

          7  waiting, I was wondering how you feel about that.

          8                 MR. RUSSIANOFF: It is just when

          9  members here ran in 2005, the salary was $90,000.

         10  They did not run under an expectation of the salary

         11  being increased or what that increase might be. My

         12  view is the Quadrennial Commission should have meet

         13  in 2003 and in that climate of fiscal distress for

         14  the City, they propose not to recommend salary

         15  increases, that would have been the normal cycle and

         16  that has been the cycle during the history of the

         17  Commission. I think it was a mistake. A mistake that

         18  I'm not criticizing this Council for because it is a

         19  decision by the Mayor.

         20                 CHAIRPERSON FELDER: Do you think the

         21  salaries that are being proposed for other elected

         22  officials are appropriate?

         23                 MR. RUSSIANOFF: I don't mean to sound

         24  stilted, but unless this reform-- we are not unlike

         25  Council Members, our view is that any support for
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          2  these salaries has to come with some reform attached

          3  to them or we are not buying. So the answer is we do

          4  not have an opinion on the other salary increases.

          5                 CHAIRPERSON FELDER: Is there any

          6  reform that you think the other officials, other

          7  elected officials should have?

          8                 MR. RUSSIANOFF: No. My suggested

          9  reforms are for the Council. But again, it is like

         10  the State legislation that Ms. Wylde referred too,

         11  it involves not just only judges for whom we believe

         12  there should be increases, but State legislators. We

         13  don't think the process is a good one. We don't

         14  support it.

         15                 CHAIRPERSON FELDER: I thank you very

         16  much. Next witness, please.

         17                 MR. DADEY: Good afternoon, Speaker

         18  Quinn, Chair Felder and Members of the Government

         19  Operations Committee and other members of the City

         20  Council. My name is Dick Dadey and I am the

         21  Executive Director of Citizens Union of the City of

         22  New York. I am here today to provide testimony

         23  regarding the proposal before you that was submitted

         24  by the Advisory Commission for the Review of

         25  Compensation Levels of Elected Officials.
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          2                 But before I focus my remarks on

          3  that, I just want to commend Speaker Quinn and the

          4  City Council today for its announcement that it will

          5  allow for greater transparency and accountability in

          6  its Council making decision process. I think that

          7  was a great step for good government and I commend

          8  you for that. I also wish to commend the City

          9  Council, its Speaker, Christine Quinn, and

         10  Government Operations Committee Chair, Simcha

         11  Felder, for the openness with which this issue is

         12  being discussed today and the time that is being

         13  allowed for the public to fully comment on the

         14  important issue in the matter in advance of this

         15  Council voting on it.

         16                 The City of New York has a

         17  commendable statutory process in place to determine

         18  the appropriate compensation for its elected

         19  officials. In having a Commission that is appointed

         20  by the Mayor which then seeks to review and analyze

         21  the many considerations that go into determining how

         22  much to pay our elected officials, there is a level

         23  of seriousness and judiciousness to this process

         24  that is laudatory. Chairman Bernstein and

         25  Commissioners G.G. Michelson and Stephanie Palmer
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          2  fulfilled their duties admirably this year and are

          3  to be thanked for their able service.

          4                 At the outset, let me say that

          5  Citizens Union believes strongly that given the

          6  population size of the City of New York, the

          7  demanding responsibilities placed upon most of our

          8  elected officials to manage a complex operation like

          9  the City of New York, and the myriad of constituent

         10  services these elected officials are called upon to

         11  provide, the offices of the City's elected officials

         12  need to be well compensated in order to attract

         13  individuals to public life who are talented,

         14  committed, and well qualified to carry out their

         15  jobs as successfully as they can.

         16                 Citizens Union's thoughts on the

         17  compensation proposal before you today is as

         18  follows. Under the current provision of the New York

         19  City Administrative Code governing elected official

         20  compensation, though it was not followed in 2003 and

         21  is not likely to be followed in 2007, members of the

         22  Council have been and continue to be placed in the

         23  undesirable position of having to vote on a

         24  recommendation to raise their own salaries while

         25  serving their current term in office.
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          2                 Though we know that when the process

          3  was first established back nearly 20 years ago, the

          4  intent of the present structure was to schedule the

          5  work of the Commission as far away as possible from

          6  any election, so that it is less likely that a vote

          7  on the proposal will become a major campaign issue.

          8  However, we believe philosophically that currently

          9  serving Council Members should not vote themselves a

         10  raise, and that the structure of the system that

         11  puts them in that position needs to be changed.

         12                 Going forward, however, we suggest

         13  that the Quadrennial Commission meet in the last

         14  year of the four year term of City elected officials

         15  so that any recommendation for prospective salary

         16  increases would take effect upon the start of the

         17  next four year term so that future City Councils are

         18  not put in the position of voting on their salaries

         19  while holding office in their current term.

         20                 As part of whatever compensation

         21  package is ultimately decided, we urge the City

         22  Council to also seek a simultaneous change in the

         23  New York City Administrative Code that would

         24  accomplish this goal. We recommend that the

         25  Administrative Code be changed so that the next
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          2  Commission would be required to meet in 2009 to

          3  determine salaries for officials elected to serve

          4  beginning January 1, 2010, and every four years

          5  thereafter.

          6                 2. We reluctantly accede, however, to

          7  the present need and inevitability of an increase

          8  given that the salaries for our City elected

          9  officials have not been increased in seven years

         10  while others who work for government have seen

         11  regular increases in their compensation. To deny any

         12  increases for our elected officials now until the

         13  start of the next term in office in 2010 would not

         14  be fair given that an expected review is not held

         15  and anticipated increase not granted in 2003,

         16  because of the City's then poor fiscal condition.

         17                 3. The proposed new salaries for the

         18  office of Mayor at $225,000, Comptroller at

         19  $185,000, and District Attorney at $195,000 are

         20  appropriate given the level of responsibility these

         21  offices carry and the amount of time that has passed

         22  since these offices last received an increase.

         23  Therefore, we support the Commission's analysis and

         24  reasoning behind their salary recommendations for

         25  these offices. We are pleased to see that the Office
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          2  of District Attorney, in particular, has received

          3  the largest increase, both in terms of percentage

          4  and amount, since that office has been underpaid for

          5  some time, especially considering the salaries of

          6  those in the legal field.

          7                 4. In the redesign of our local

          8  government, the City Council has been given greater

          9  authority and responsibility for managing the

         10  affairs of our City than do either the Borough

         11  President or the Public Advocate. Though these last

         12  two offices represent a far greater number of

         13  citizens, we are not so sure given their limited

         14  power and scope of responsibility that the offices

         15  of Borough President and Public Advocate deserve to

         16  be paid so much more than either the City Council

         17  Speaker who is the second most powerful elected

         18  official in City government or a regular member of

         19  the City Council. We are also troubled by the fact

         20  that the Office of Borough President is receiving a

         21  larger percentage increase than that of the office

         22  of Comptroller. Citizens Union opposes the proposed

         23  increases for these positions though we would

         24  support smaller increases.

         25                 5. Citizens Union is pleased to see
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          2  the Advisory Commission on elected official

          3  compensation identify two areas of compensation

          4  practice in need of reform as it relates to the City

          5  Council salaries; that of additional stipends and

          6  the earning of outside income because the job is

          7  still defined as part- time.

          8                 It is hard to defend to the average

          9  New Yorker that a member of the New York City

         10  Council should now be paid at least $112,500 and as

         11  much as $122,500 on average when stipends are

         12  factored in; when the job is still defined as a

         13  part- time job that allows Council Members to earn

         14  outside income. Granted, many Council Members not

         15  only work full- time, but more than full- time and

         16  have as their only earned income that of their

         17  Council salary. However, a few do maintain jobs

         18  outside of their Council position that likely

         19  compete for their attention and quite possibly lead

         20  to some of them not giving their full and necessary

         21  attention to their Council responsibilities.

         22                 Especially with the consideration of

         23  a base salary increase, Citizens Union urges the

         24  Council to drop the disbursement of stipends for

         25  committee chairs since it is such an outdated
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          2  practice that is no longer provided as it once was

          3  in the past to those serving in many state

          4  legislatures and other City legislative bodies.

          5  Additionally, Citizens Union urges that the Council

          6  take the appropriate steps now to see that a

          7  thorough review is done on whether the job of

          8  Council Member should remain a part- time one or

          9  become a full- time one and how the earning of

         10  outside income be handled.

         11                 If these issues were addressed as

         12  part of the current compensation proposal before

         13  you, Citizens Union would support the proposed

         14  salary increases for City Council and would even

         15  considering supporting a larger future salary for

         16  members giving the increasing importance members

         17  serve in ensuring the proper functioning of City

         18  government and the delivery of services not only to

         19  their own constituents, but for all New Yorkers.

         20                 We would also support the continued

         21  allocation of stipends to the top four or five

         22  leadership positions of the Council. The bottom line

         23  is that Citizens Union believes that Council Members

         24  should earn a worthy City salary absent most

         25  additional stipends, that would allow them to devote
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          2  their "whole time" attention as is required of other

          3  agency heads and elected officials, to performing

          4  their duties without the need to earn an outside

          5  income.

          6                 For the record, in 2004, 13 Council

          7  Members earned a total of at least $604,000 and as

          8  much as $1,545,000 for an average somewhere between

          9  $55,000 and $140,000. In 2005, 11 Council Members

         10  earned a lesser total average between $46,000 and

         11  $122,000. Nearly 80 percent of the current Council

         12  members serving today are not earning any outside

         13  income, a sign that the job requires full- time

         14  attention in order for it to be performed

         15  successfully and effectively. I have attached our

         16  evaluation of the information that has been provided

         17  to the Conflicts of Interest Board.

         18                 In conclusion, let me summarize our

         19  positions. One, we support the proposed new salaries

         20  for Mayor, Comptroller, and District Attorney. Two,

         21  we do not support the proposed new salaries for

         22  Borough Presidents and Public Advocate, but

         23  recommend a smaller increase for those positions.

         24  Three, cognizant of the fact that the Council has

         25  gone seven years without a pay increase, we would
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          2  support the proposed City Council salaries if the

          3  Council were to stop the practice of awarding

          4  committee chairs additional stipends and commit to

          5  having a City discussion about the possible need for

          6  the job of Member of the City Council being

          7  reclassified as a full- time job. And finally, we

          8  urge the Council to press for a reconfigured

          9  timeline for the Quadrennial Commission to consider

         10  future increases so that the Council is never again

         11  voting to increase its own salary during the time it

         12  is in its current term in office.

         13                 Madam Speaker and Chair Felder, thank

         14  you for the opportunity to allow me to present the

         15  views of Citizen Union.

         16                 CHAIRPERSON FELDER: Thank you very

         17  much.

         18                 SPEAKER QUINN: Thank you. I just

         19  wanted to thank NYPIRG and Citizens Union for your

         20  testimony. We certainly don't agree with all it. But

         21  want to thank you nonetheless for your testimony and

         22  more importantly, I want to thank both of you and

         23  your organizations for your help and work with the

         24  Council over the past ten months. I mean, there have

         25  been a lot of important steps forward that we have
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          2  taken and many of those have been in partnership

          3  with NYPIRG and Citizens Union. We haven't always

          4  agreed on every single link of the step, but I think

          5  there is a much closer working relationship between

          6  the Council and your two organizations than there

          7  has been in quite some time. I think it has served

          8  the Council well.

          9                 Although, in this case today, may not

         10  always agree, I know that we will continue to engage

         11  in serious and ongoing dialogue on these and other

         12  good government reform matters. I want to thank you

         13  for being so thoughtful about the operations of the

         14  City Council and for always forwarding those

         15  thoughts to us, many of which we have implemented

         16  and saying we are looking forward, but who is

         17  counting, but to three years and two more months of

         18  work of that nature.

         19                 MR. DADEY: Thank you.

         20                 MR. RUSSIANOFF: Thank you.

         21                 CHAIRPERSON FELDER: Do any of my

         22  colleagues have any questions? Council Member

         23  Brewer.

         24                 COUNCIL MEMBER BREWER: Thank you. I

         25  just want to say these two folks are two of the most
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          2  best known for their thoughts on public policy and I

          3  thank you. Certainly Gene and I started about the

          4  same time in this crazy job and I thank all for the

          5  work that you have done. My question is just a

          6  comment and I guess honest since I have the most

          7  interesting outside income on your list here, I

          8  would like to point out that in many cases and just

          9  looking at the list, just so you know it doesn't

         10  take that much time to teach or do other sort of

         11  things. It is not really a time.

         12                 I just want to let you know, full-

         13  time is a funny misnomer because actually you work

         14  24/7 anyway. The question is that 70 hours a week or

         15  80 hours a week, never 40. Even if you are doing

         16  something else. That is a just practical fact. And I

         17  think speaking for everyone here, watching people

         18  operate that's how it goes. Now to the public

         19  understandably looks like we are doing something

         20  else and you are not doing full- time City Council,

         21  but just in reality it is a huge numbers of hours.

         22  And also just in terms of the committees, I think

         23  that is more for a debate. But there is no question

         24  that you end up doing not just the Committee work,

         25  but also picking up on the nuances of whatever the
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          2  topic is and trying to advance it in many outside

          3  meetings that have nothing to do specifically with

          4  the time allotted to that Committee. I just throw

          5  that out because it is part of the way in which the

          6  Council operates. Thank you.

          7                 CHAIRPERSON FELDER: Just I want to

          8  pick up on what my colleague, Council Member Brewer

          9  said, when I first got elected, I don't know how

         10  many months later, somebody called my home on a

         11  Saturday night at 11:00 and said that it is an

         12  emergency and they have to meet with me. I said, can

         13  you please give me some hint as to what it was. It

         14  is very personal. I have to meet with you

         15  immediately. They sounded distraught. So I let them

         16  come over. They come over to the house at 11:00.

         17  This man said that he got a ticket for lack of

         18  inspection.

         19                 I figured if he was that distraught,

         20  I said can you just tell me why you are so upset

         21  that you had to come. He said, it wasn't my car.

         22  It's not my car. I said, how do you know? He said, I

         23  don't have a car. He told me he didn't have a car.

         24  He got the ticket somehow. I think that we do a lot

         25  besides the job, the therapy that we provide to some
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          2  and I should say the therapy that I need. But I

          3  wanted to ask you, either one of you, if the

          4  suggestions that you made were in place in terms of

          5  it being a full- time job period, what would you

          6  suggest the adequate compensation would be?

          7                 MR. DADEY: Very good question.

          8  Clearly, we would, if those two issues were

          9  addressed including the one of stipends and

         10  classifying as a full- time job and having some

         11  regulation under governing the earning of outside

         12  income, we would support at the very least the

         13  proposal to raise it to $112,500. And be mindful of

         14  the fact that there would also be a gap I think

         15  between what you all do and the scope of

         16  responsibilities and authority of the Public

         17  Advocate and the Borough Presidents who we think

         18  earn more than they should be.

         19                 CHAIRPERSON FELDER: I must have not

         20  made myself clear. My question was that given the

         21  suggestions you made about full- time and outside

         22  work, if hypothetically all that was taken into

         23  consideration, what would you recommend the Council

         24  Members earn?

         25                 MR. DADEY: At the very least, the
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          2  proposal of the commission at $112,500.

          3                 CHAIRPERSON FELDER: That's what we

          4  are voting on. In other words, your contention is

          5  that's the only way that we should get that

          6  increase. Is that it?

          7                 MR. DADEY: It should be part of a

          8  larger package of reform and we urge the Council to

          9   --

         10                 CHAIRPERSON FELDER: I was hoping that

         11  you were suggesting we should get paid more than

         12  that because I feel that way.

         13                 MR. DADEY: I think that if you were

         14  to move ahead with those two that there could be a

         15  case beginning in 2010 for the Council to earn

         16  considerably more given the expanding

         17  responsibilities.

         18                 CHAIRPERSON FELDER: Mr. Russianoff,

         19  can you tell me, either one of you, is any job that

         20  you can see that would not be a problem having an

         21  addition to be a Councilman? For example, I was

         22  listed on your thing and I'm honored as someone who

         23  teaches. I do not know how to run a Bed and

         24  Breakfast thing, yet. But I as a professor, now let

         25  me tell you something, I think that there is some
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          2  and I'm not saying that teaching is the only thing,

          3  but there may be some things that I think in

          4  addition to whatever else is going on is a good

          5  thing. Is there anything that you think --

          6                 MR. RUSSIANOFF: I agree. I think

          7  there is a number of activities that would enhance

          8  Council Members understanding of their communities

          9  or the problems that people face. For me, the issue

         10  is the traditional one which should there be some

         11  kind of restriction on the amount of outside earned

         12  income. Something they do now and some

         13  representatives in many states around the country,

         14  it is not unique or cutting edge. It is very, very

         15  traditional and the idea is to form a compromise

         16  between a total restriction on doing outside

         17  activity and a fair one that allows you to provide

         18  additional income for your families and also to have

         19  additional experiences. I would say that I would

         20  hope the Council would debate and consider some kind

         21  of restriction of the amount of outside income its

         22  members could earn.

         23                 CHAIRPERSON FELDER: Just to finish

         24  it, so I am clear to say that your issue is less

         25  with what a member should or shouldn't be doing, but
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          2  rather the amount that they are earning?

          3                 MR. RUSSIANOFF: Correct.

          4                 CHAIRPERSON FELDER: Logically, if

          5  somebody is in one profession where they can do

          6  billable hours, for example, at a higher rate, it

          7  doesn't seem to make sense.

          8                 MR. RUSSIANOFF: I would agree --

          9                 CHAIRPERSON FELDER: Why should they

         10  be restricted? If somebody thinks that I'm the best

         11  professor around and they want to pay me $20,000 an

         12  hour to teach --

         13                 UNIDENTIFIED SPEAKER: They need the

         14  therapy.

         15                 CHAIRPERSON FELDER: -- I don't see

         16  the logic of restricting the amount.

         17                 MR. RUSSIANOFF: Well, I don't want to

         18  get into the therapy issues. But the notion is that

         19  you are earning a significant amount of income,

         20  $100,00, $200,000, you are spending a lot of time at

         21  it. Therefore, it is taking away time that you can

         22  spend on matters involving your constituents. Do I

         23  assume all Council Members are full- time? Yes, and

         24  I know from personal experience working with many of

         25  the members here and they work more than full- time,
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          2  but I think as a policy matter, the Council should

          3  do what the House of Representatives in many other

          4  states do. Put some restriction on the amount of

          5  outside earned income. It is debatable what that

          6  restriction should be. Ten percent, 15 percent, 20

          7  percent, certain kinds of activities or other

          8  activities. I think it is a fair issue to debate and

          9  consider.

         10                 CHAIRPERSON FELDER: Thank you very

         11  much. Does anyone have any questions? Thank you

         12  again. The next panel we have Larry Penner, Chris

         13  Peoples and Haile Rivera.

         14                 MR. PENNER: I'd like to thank you for

         15  this opportunity as an ordinary citizen to testify

         16  before a public body. There are very few democracies

         17   --

         18                 CHAIRPERSON FELDER: If you can each

         19  mention your name before you testify.

         20                 MR. PENNER: Larry Penner. I'd like to

         21  thank you for the opportunity as an ordinary public

         22  citizen to testify before a public body. Few people

         23  realize how few democracies are left in the world

         24  and it is nice like a common person like myself can

         25  come before this body. I noticed in the 2005
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          2  campaign for re- election, none of you or your

          3  colleagues talked about a salary increase when you

          4  ran for re- election. I also have to tell you that

          5  public notice when the Mayor's Advisory Committee

          6  meet in 2006, not one Council Member appeared to

          7  have the moral courage to testify to make the case

          8  for your salary increase. It kind of reminded some

          9  of us of the cowardly lion from the Land of Oz. It

         10  really didn't help make your case which is

         11  unfortunate. But I am glad you are having the

         12  hearing now after the fact.

         13                 The average New Yorker according to

         14  the 2000 census makes $41,000 a year. $41,000 a

         15  year. Many years ago there was a government draft

         16  for the military. None of you were drafted to serve

         17  in the City Council. You volunteered to run for

         18  public office knowing the salary and the perks of

         19  office. And by the way, the perks are quite generous

         20  for an average citizen. You have a staff member that

         21  can drive you to and from your office. You can take

         22  out season greeting ads in weekly newspapers. I got

         23  up to go to a Hallmark Card Shop and buy my cards

         24  and buy my stamps to mail out my seasons greeting

         25  cards. You get comp tickets to public events around
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          2  the City. You are paid sometimes for out of town

          3  travel and out of the country. The ordinary citizens

          4  and the civil servants who work across the street in

          5  the municipal building can only dream of the perks

          6  and privileges you have.

          7                 Now we are talking about a $90,000

          8  base salary in place now with perks and lulus from

          9  $4,000 to $28,000. Everyone knows the history of

         10  municipal government going back to the late

         11  Councilman Tom Cue through Peter Vallone and the

         12  current Madam Councilwoman Quinn. The victor goes to

         13  spoils. Those who work for and vote for the correct

         14  winning candidate for City Council Speaker get the

         15  rewards. That how it is in every government bodies,

         16  City, State, Federal. You are no different and

         17  that's the way it is. But think about it, $90,000

         18  base salary and the perk.

         19                 I read an interesting article in the

         20  Daily News several weeks ago. I think it was the New

         21  York Post about outside income. I know all of you

         22  work full- time, but it is only 24 hours in a day,

         23  seven days a week and I was amazed that one of my

         24  neighbors down the road, City Council Finance

         25  Committee, Chair David Weprin, a nice man, a hard
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          2  working family man, who is running for City

          3  Comptroller, earned $200,000 a year in outside

          4  income. $200,000 a year. And the average income for

          5  a New Yorker is $41,000.

          6                 Now municipal employees who work

          7  across the street can't disappear from their offices

          8  for several hours during the day and practice law or

          9  offer financial advice, whatever Councilman Weprin

         10  does and some of his colleagues. Quite frankly, they

         11  would probably be fired from their job for doing

         12  that. I don't understand that. None of you are

         13  insomnia and I know you are not working from

         14  midnight to 8:00 a.m. But the average public is

         15  really concerned about the amount of outside income.

         16  So clearly, if you are going to give yourself a

         17  salary increase, I think the job should be

         18  classified as a full- time job. That would certainly

         19  help improve the justification or a salary increase.

         20                 I'd also point out that it is no

         21  secret that you folks are looking about over turning

         22  term limits. Again, this is a moral dilemma here. It

         23  is like double dipping. First, you are going to put

         24  through a salary increase and then you are going to

         25  follow up and extend term limits to enjoy the
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          2  bounties of your bonuses. If you want to be morally

          3  correct and sell this concept to the public, you

          4  have to give us an iron clad commitment that you are

          5  not going to extend your terms and leave in 2009

          6  which would be the appropriate thing. You talk about

          7  inflation. The average New Yorker deals with

          8  inflation and frankly people switch jobs.

          9                 All of you look quite prosperous,

         10  healthy, well dressed, well groomed. If you can't

         11  make ends meet, trust me there are thousands of your

         12  constituents if you resign tomorrow, who would love

         13  to have your job. You are making two, three, four

         14  times what they make and they don't have the perks

         15  and privileges you have. That's something you have

         16  to realize. That's what is going on in the real

         17  world. I know you have this cocoon here in the City

         18  Council and all of you have experts in your

         19  particular area. Supervisors for public employees

         20  offer salary increases based on merit and

         21  performance.

         22                 I saw another article many months ago

         23  in the newspaper, the average attendance for a

         24  Council Member which chairs the committee is 80

         25  percent. Eighty percent. This is either in the New
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          2  York Post or the New York Daily News. That means you

          3  are not showing up one out of five days a week or

          4  two days every two week pay period. How do you think

          5  a municipal employee across the street would be

          6  treated by his supervisor if they didn't show up for

          7  work. You lose a little bit of creditability there

          8  when you engage in actions like that. I would just

          9  urge you if you are looking for a salary increase to

         10  be consistent and think about the taxpayers who are

         11  at work picking up the tab. Some other people spoke

         12  far more eloquently than I did. They are more

         13  polished and professional. I don't have any formal

         14  presentation.

         15                 I think the first thing you have to

         16  do is make this job full-time. Abolish lulu and

         17  bonuses. Honor term limits. If you look up behind

         18  you on the ceiling. I want all of you to turn

         19  around. It says a government of the people, by the

         20  people, for the people. The people voted twice, do

         21  not abolish term limits. Any public opinion poll and

         22  I yield to my colleagues from the press section in

         23  room nine, they are far more knowledgeable than I

         24  am, every public opinion poll shows the majority of

         25  New Yorkers do not support salary increases. Again,
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          2  I would remind you public service is a gift. It is a

          3  privilege. I don't think you should be taking

          4  advantage of it. I would urge you if you accept your

          5  salary increase, keep in mind, what's your

          6  performance been since the last salary increase.

          7                 The municipal debt has gone up from

          8  over $40 billion to $50 billion. The New York City

          9  average per capita resident is responsible for their

         10  individual portion of the debt between $2 and

         11  $3,000. It is the largest in the nation. That's

         12  nothing to be proud of. It doesn't justify a salary

         13  increase. I think you have to keep these issues in

         14  mind.

         15                 CHAIRPERSON FELDER: Can you please

         16  wrap up your testimony?

         17                 MR. PENNER: Oh, I would be glad too.

         18                 CHAIRPERSON FELDER: Thank you.

         19                 MR. PENNER: But you gave other people

         20  a lot more time in their statement.

         21                 CHAIRPERSON FELDER: I don't think

         22  that is true.

         23                 MR. PENNER: I think it is true. I was

         24  watching my watch.

         25                 CHAIRPERSON FELDER: All right. Then
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          2  whatever you say is right.

          3                 MR. PENNER: Whatever you say is

          4  right. Maybe you are all knowing. I would point out

          5  that the majority of the voters which are so

          6  disgusted with the choices in 2005, they voted for

          7  none of the above and stayed home. I have got to

          8  compliment you in having the public hearing today.

          9  But I only found out about it thanks to an article

         10  by Frank Lombardi (phonetic) in the Daily News I

         11  read this morning on the way in. If you want more

         12  attendance, I would urge you publish notices in the

         13  paper.

         14                 And again, we may philosophical

         15  disagree. I saw your body language moans and groans

         16  when some of the other people were testifying about

         17  what they thought was proper reform. It is great in

         18  the democracy. Again, an ordinary citizen like

         19  myself can express their opinions to elected

         20  officials like yourself. I wish you continue health

         21  and success in your careers. Thank you very much for

         22  the opportunity to testify.

         23                 CHAIRPERSON FELDER: Thank you very

         24  much. Next.

         25                 SPEAKER QUINN: Can I just add? We
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          2  would like to make sure you are obviously notified

          3  of all hearings in the public. If you see the Chief

          4  of Staff Chuck Marry (phonetic), if you would like,

          5  we would add your name and your e- mail onto the

          6  notification of any hearings which cover topic areas

          7  of which you or anyone else is interested in or any

          8  of them if you like. We certainly struggle to get

          9  notices out. It can be challenging in a big City. If

         10  you see Chuck, he will make sure you get added to

         11  the list.

         12                 MS. PEOPLES Who do we see for that?

         13                 SPEAKER QUINN: The gentlemen there.

         14  Wave Chuck. Thank you.

         15                 MR. PENNER: That's great. But could I

         16  ask why no one responded to my question. How come

         17  not one of you had the moral courage to testify at

         18  the Mayor's Committee meeting in June to make the

         19  case for your salary increase?

         20                 CHAIRPERSON FELDER: I'm sorry, but I

         21  look forward to seeing you more often at the

         22  hearings. The way it works is we ask the questions,

         23  we listen to the testimony. But I appreciate. I know

         24  you are analyzing my moans and groans. But we will

         25  take the next witness now.
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          2                 MR. PENNER: Thank you.

          3                 MS. PEOPLES: My name is Chris

          4  Peoples. I'm an activist. I heard a lot of

          5  information today that I didn't even know. It is

          6  really necessary to do these hearings as Christine

          7  was saying so the people know. Because people are

          8  really concerned. Being an activist, people complain

          9  about politicians all the time and a lot of it is

         10  just that they are voter registered and not voter

         11  educated in terms of who is running for office and

         12  what it is that you all actually do.

         13                 A couple of the people came up and

         14  spoke and I think it was the District Attorney from

         15  Queens actually gave a break down in terms of what a

         16  DA does. A lot of the public don't even know what it

         17  is that you are all suppose to do. We vote you in

         18  office. Don't even know whether we can call on you.

         19  I came in particular to say that just as I have

         20  people that work up under me, I think raises should

         21  be given based on what you have done. Not just

         22  because you are there. But I when hear that -- I

         23  didn't know that the City Council works part- time.

         24  I speak in particular in reference to a council

         25  person that I know very well, Charles Barron. This
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          2  is a guy who works exceptionally overboard for the

          3  people in his district and out of his district. I

          4  didn't know that there was such a thing as a part-

          5  time position for Council people. I know Ms. Dickens

          6  from the Harlem Community and Bob Jackson in terms

          7  of education has done a whole lot.

          8                 I think that people should be granted

          9  based on what they've done. I think that within the

         10  policy of they go about giving the raises should

         11  also be some kind of system set up where you check

         12  with maybe their constituents. These are people that

         13  put them into office. I think some other things

         14  should come into play in terms of how you all get

         15  raises. I do think that no one wants to work on a

         16  job and be there seven years and not a get raise. I

         17  don't think at all it should be even an issue that

         18  you shouldn't get a raise. But I think that some

         19  Council Members and the politicians out do others. I

         20  say that as an activist having worked closely with

         21  them over the years. I think that again and I

         22  mention again Charles Barron who is an exceptional

         23  Council Member. I think that he should get a triple

         24  raise because he out does a lot of people.

         25                 SPEAKER QUINN: We will tell him you
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          2  said that.

          3                 MS. PEOPLES: Please. Thank you. I

          4  have no problem with that. And given any other

          5  politician their due. If you have done anything, I'm

          6  one of those people that as an activist, a lot of us

          7  are often critical of the politicians. But if I see

          8  you out there and I know you are on the issues, I'm

          9  going to support you. So I came here to support the

         10  fact that you all get a raise. I don't know about

         11  how much it is. I mean I don't know about the number

         12  game and all that. I think that wherever you work,

         13  you don't want to get a job, a raise; I can't

         14  believe it has been seven years. When I hear some

         15  people say, well you should wait until the other

         16  guys get in. What about the people here? You have to

         17  feed your kids now too. I disagree with the fact

         18  that they said you should wait, I think, until the

         19  term limits are up (somebody had mentioned earlier),

         20  2010, when you have got to pay a phone bill now. I

         21  think that you all should get something. But I think

         22  that you should be more mindful of the fact that let

         23  the community know what it is that you do so that we

         24  know that you even deserve a raise. You shouldn't

         25  just get a raise just because you are in the
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          2  position. All right. Thank you.

          3                 CHAIRPERSON FELDER: Thank you very

          4  much for your testimony. Next.

          5                 MR. RIVERA: Good evening everybody.

          6  Just so you know actually, I intend to come to the

          7  City Council hearings. It has about --

          8                 CHAIRPERSON FELDER: Could you just

          9  mention your name, please?

         10                 MR. RIVERA: I will. My name is Haile

         11  Rivera for the record. I intend to sit in here and

         12  make my edits. So the version that you have there,

         13  there are some edits that you will see. Others that

         14  I will stick too, to what I believe and it doesn't

         15  change. I do want to thank the Council for having

         16  this meeting in the evening. It is one of the

         17  arguments that I am making on this proposal that I

         18  wish the Council Members have evening hours per say.

         19  I didn't mention the hearings, but this would be

         20  great. I got out of work at 4:30 and it was just

         21  around the corner so it was nice for me. As you see,

         22  hardly anybody can be here.

         23                 I also want to say, today is a great

         24  day. I know this has nothing to do with what we are

         25  saying, but Secretary of Defense, Donald Rumsfeld
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          2  resigned. It is a great day for America.

          3                 CHAIRPERSON FELDER: May I ask you

          4  please to limit your remarks to anything relating to

          5  the subject of the day.

          6                 MR. RIVERA: And I will. Good evening,

          7  Speaker Quinn, Mr. Chairman, distinguished members

          8  of the Governmental Operations Committee and guests.

          9  As I said for the record, my name is Haile Rivera

         10  and I am here to testify on Intro 458 regarding the

         11  proposed 25 percent salary increase for the members

         12  of the City Council.

         13                 When I first read of the proposed

         14  salary increase, my first reaction was, why? The

         15  times I have attended community board meetings in my

         16  district, the 14th Councilmanic District which is

         17  represented by Councilwoman Maria Baez, I have yet

         18  to see her present, in person, or out in the

         19  neighborhood for that fact. There is no significant

         20  presence felt as the leader she was elected to be.

         21  All I know is that she has used thousands of dollars

         22  to pay for the phone, taxpayers I might add, nearly

         23  $2,000 for a $80.00 bill per month. I then asked,

         24  $90,000 plus the stipends or the lulus, is not

         25  enough? Of course this does not apply to every
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          2  Council Member sitting in this committee or in the

          3  City Council.

          4                 Then I read in the local newspaper

          5  that a City Council had a total of 41 committees and

          6  subcommittees, more than the U.S. Congress and I

          7  said, unbelievable. Again, I may not be accurate on

          8  this. This is something I read in the papers. I then

          9  proceeded to write a three page letter in opposition

         10  to this proposal to all the editorial boards of the

         11  New York Times, the Daily News, the El Diario La

         12  Prensa, the Post, Crain's, Citizens Union and the

         13  Village Voice just to name a few. In case you are

         14  wondering why I decided to address the letter to the

         15  editorial boards and not to the Speaker or the City

         16  Council itself, is because I knew then, as I know

         17  now, that this proposal with be approved with

         18  little, if any, abstentions, except probably Tony

         19  Avella, of course.

         20                 Many, if not most, Council Members

         21  rely heavily on the endorsements of these editorial

         22  boards to give their campaigns a strong push, and

         23  more often than not, it leads to success. In that

         24  letter, I suggested that if you, the City Council,

         25  wishes to give itself a raise, which I now decided
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          2  to support since it has been seven years since you

          3  guys had a raise, only I do not support it that you

          4  guys give yourself a raise. It just doesn't make

          5  sense.

          6                 I would suggest the following few

          7  recommendations. In the interest of time, I will not

          8  mention those that I mentioned in the three page

          9  letter which I have with me if anybody wishes to

         10  have a copy. Number one. Every member of the City

         11  Council must have evening and weekend hours. The

         12  average New Yorker who is not unemployed, of course,

         13  works from 9:00 to 5:00 and arrive home usually from

         14  6:00 to 7:00. How can they get to the local Council

         15  Member's office after he or she gets home? It is not

         16  possible.

         17                 2. Every member of the City Council

         18  must be limited to a certain number of committees he

         19  or she is allowed to serve. This will allow more

         20  time for the Council Member to be in his or her

         21  district office serving his or her constituents

         22  directly.

         23                 3. Every member of the City Council

         24  must attend at least 70 percent of the community

         25  board meetings, which are planned well in advance so
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          2  there is no excuse, and it is the base of our

          3  communities.

          4                 4. Actually, I'm going to make this

          5  my last, but not definitely not the least. There

          6  must be stronger push to increase the salaries of

          7  the NYPD, FDNY, Sanitation, EMS, and Teachers which

          8  obviously they have got a contract now. There is

          9  absolutely no reason why this should be a problem,

         10  especially when the City Council is overwhelmingly

         11  Democratic and can (as they have done already)

         12  override any veto of the Mayor. These are the force

         13  behind New York City. These are the brave men and

         14  women that help make New York the great City it is.

         15                 Those in the NYPD and FDNY in

         16  particular, put their lives on the line for all of

         17  us every day. They leave home not knowing if they

         18  will return alive to their families. Can you imagine

         19  the pain, danger and sadness of their wife/husband

         20  and children have to endure day in and day out? And

         21  for what? For who? For the safety and well- being of

         22  all of us in this room and beyond.

         23                 In the case with lulus, which I

         24  originally not agreed with, I have taken up the

         25  position that if approved, then do so. Fine. But let
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          2  those lulus be used for scholarships to help the

          3  communities you are elected to serve. Whether it is

          4  educational scholarship and what not for the many

          5  kids that are out there. I would also like to take

          6  this opportunity to comment on an article that I

          7  read in today's Daily News about the fact that some

          8  supporters contend that your salaries are lower than

          9  many of your appointed staffers. The article

         10  mentioned two staffers from the Speaker's Office and

         11  I'm sorry I had to highlight that one, but that's

         12  what is in the papers. Her Chief of Staff makes $185

         13  grand and her ranking Deputy Chief of Staff who

         14  makes $180. If this is the case for all the Council

         15  Members, then I think something is wrong and I think

         16  something needs to be fixed. And honestly, it

         17  doesn't make sense.

         18                 Ladies and gentlemen, like many kids

         19  in our City, I come from a family where it was only

         20  my mother and I was forced to work two jobs. I'm

         21  sorry, she was forced to work two jobs in order to

         22  provide the basics and necessities of life. A home

         23  where domestic violence was a definition of my

         24  childhood and even forcing us to relocate to other

         25  states in order to get away and be safe. I've had my

                                                            63

          1  COMMITTEE ON GOVERNMENTAL OPERATIONS

          2  share of moments when I did not know what, where and

          3  when I would have a decent meal or safe place to

          4  sleep at night. Those experiences, however, is what

          5  motivates me every day to advocate for those less

          6  fortunate, who may be going through the same

          7  situations I did. I say this so that each of one of

          8  you can sit back just for a few seconds and think

          9  why you chose to run for public office and what is

         10  your purpose in life.

         11                 In closing, I would like to join the

         12  Citizens Union and others who are here today and who

         13  are called critics instead of advocates of good

         14  government, urging this Committee, the Speaker and

         15  the entire delegation of the City Council to

         16  consider adopting the recommendations of the Mayor's

         17  Quadrennial Commission and make the job of a Council

         18  Member full- time and eliminate the lulus. If this

         19  Council is in fact want the values reform, as often

         20  times many of you express, then don't let it be just

         21  words; act on them. Thank you again for this

         22  opportunity.

         23                 CHAIRPERSON FELDER: Thank you very

         24  much for your testimony. Council Member Jackson.

         25                 COUNCIL MEMBER JACKSON: Mr. Chair,
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          2  let me thank you and let me thank the members of the

          3  public for coming in and expressing their view

          4  points on this particular matter. But let just say I

          5  totally agree with the last speaker in reference to

          6  point number four in that the NYPD, FDNY,

          7  Sanitation, EMS, and Teachers, I truly believe that

          8  they deserve higher salaries. But obviously, if you

          9  read his details regarding that, he should know that

         10  the City Council has no role in negotiating the

         11  salaries of these various City employees. That is

         12  the Executive Branch and we play no role in that

         13  particular matter. But I totally agree with him that

         14  teachers and as you know they just got settled a

         15  contract with Mayor Bloomberg and all the other

         16  individuals that he mentioned, along with others,

         17  deserve raises.

         18                 In fact, when we look at those

         19  individuals and others, we compete with the

         20  surrounding areas and more specifically with NYPD

         21  and many police officers leave New York City in

         22  order to go work in Nassau County, Suffolk County,

         23  West Chester County, New Jersey and other places

         24  because the salaries are much higher and New York

         25  City does not pay enough in order to retain their
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          2  qualified police officers.

          3                 My second comment, Mr. Chair, is a

          4  comment made by witness as far as members of the

          5  City Council did not have the moral courage in order

          6  to give testimony at the Commission's hearing

          7  concerning salaries. In fact, I did not know when

          8  they were having it and if in fact, I would have

          9  known, I would have gone to give testimony with

         10  respect to that because I do believe that the

         11  members of the City Council, knowing all the

         12  colleagues, all 51 of them and knowing how hard they

         13  worked on behalf of their constituencies and I know

         14  how hard I work. I will be the first one to stand

         15  up, proud to say that members of this City Council

         16  deserve a raise based on the work that they do on

         17  behalf of the 8.2 million people of the City of New

         18  York.

         19                 I just wanted to say that because

         20  quite frankly when someone says speaking in general,

         21  but speaking specifically about me as an individual

         22  while speaking as a whole, that we do not have the

         23  moral courage to step forward, I do not take that

         24  lightly. Even though that individual is entitled to

         25  his opinion, so am I. As an elected official, as an
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          2  elected official, I will communicate with the

          3  constituent my opinions, just like they communicate

          4  to me theirs. They should know that is about the

          5  democratic process to speak your mind and to be

          6  heard and also to hear an appropriate response from

          7  their elected officials. Thank you very much, Mr.

          8  Chair.

          9                 CHAIRPERSON FELDER: Thank you. I just

         10  wanted to mention that Council Member Bill DeBlasio

         11  joined us a while ago and we are also joined by

         12  Council Member Alan Gerson. Our last witness is John

         13  Weiss, Tom Weiss, I'm sorry. If you could come up

         14  and at the same time I also just wanted to make note

         15  that one of the witnesses earlier mentioned

         16  something about Council Members having someone drive

         17  us around as well as somebody buying cards for us.

         18  Well, I don't know anything about it. If there is a

         19  program to have somebody drive me around, I would

         20  like to ask the Speaker to let us know about getting

         21  driven around. If there is a program to have people

         22  buy us cards or buy us lunch, I don't know what is

         23  going on.

         24                 I think that my psychoanalyst who

         25  left maybe reading too much into my facial gestures.
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          2  But I don't know. Some of the perks that he is

          3  fantasizing about, I'm sorry he left, I had wanted

          4  him to hear are that, purely fantasy. There are some

          5  elected officials in the City that do get driven

          6  around that need to be driven around and need to

          7  have the security that they have. But otherwise, the

          8  Council Members do not have people who drive them

          9  around. Some don't have a car. Okay. Next witness,

         10  please.

         11                 MR. WEISS: My name is Tom Weiss. I

         12  publish Up Front News. I will read my statement, but

         13  before I read my statement, like one of the other

         14  speakers, I found out about this because I picked up

         15  a copy of the Daily News at the Staten Island ferry.

         16  I live in Staten Island. I read Frank Lombardi's

         17  report. This is certainly one of the most under

         18  publicized hearings around. I would suggest and as a

         19  matter of fact, I think Mr. Felder mentioned that he

         20  didn't anticipate a lot of people coming and I think

         21  he is right. The weather, of course, helped. It is

         22  also interesting to schedule a hearing on the day

         23  after an election where people's attention are going

         24  to be focused elsewhere. A lot of people fantasizing

         25  about Rumsfeld and stuff like that. I would hope
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          2  that regardless of the number of people testifying

          3  here, I think at least another hearing is in order.

          4  Because I think a lot of people have views on this.

          5  I was able to reach a few people today by the time I

          6  got to this. I know there will be other people ready

          7  to testify on this. I'm opposed to this.

          8                 I think if times were different and

          9  if people weren't scrapping by and if we didn't have

         10  homeless people on the streets and stuff like and

         11  filling the shelters, this kind of thing could be

         12  more easily justified. Certainly, if this was a

         13  full-time position, it could be more easily

         14  justified. I also feel that even though I think

         15  there are many Council Members who do their jobs

         16  very well, my own experience with various Council

         17  people, both on legislative and constituent manner,

         18  has been less than satisfactory. I know, Ms. Quinn,

         19  for example owes me a response to an e- mail that I

         20  sent to her on January 30 of this year, about a

         21  resolution that she had offered some years ago

         22  involving Tibet, which left something out about the

         23  Olympic Games. I'm still awaiting a response despite

         24  a number of calls.

         25                 I'm still awaiting a response from my

                                                            69

          1  COMMITTEE ON GOVERNMENTAL OPERATIONS

          2  own Council Member, Mr. McMahon on a constituent

          3  matter. It seems that certain Council Members are

          4  either so overburdened by their responsibility to

          5  only pick and choose which e- mails they want to

          6  respond too. Which means, even though you are all

          7  working very hard, some of you are not doing your

          8  jobs as you are suppose to do. I don't think a

          9  Council Member has an option whether to return an e-

         10  mail or not. I think it is part of the job and at

         11  $90,000 a year, you can do it.

         12                 Let me read my statement. Again, I

         13  only learned about the event earlier today and I

         14  appreciate the opportunity to be here. I have

         15  communicated to as many people as I could reach, a

         16  coalition group called the Ludlow Orchard Community

         17  Organization, which has had its own problems with

         18  the Council, et cetera, and some of them may be able

         19  to testify at a future date. At any rate, I'm not

         20  going to reiterate what I already said

         21  extemporaneously. It is in one of my paragraphs.

         22                 I think as far as I concerned, for

         23  example, I think the City Council handled the Yankee

         24  Stadium matter in a rather cavalier fashion,

         25  overlooking the concerns of many constituents in its
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          2  awarding this nice little deal to Mr. Steinbrenner

          3  and destroying two parks in the process. I think if

          4  the Council had been doing its job, this kind of

          5  thing would have been thought much, much more

          6  carefully and look at what the Yankees gave us.

          7                 What I am saying is that Council

          8  Members work very hard. It is a difficult job,

          9  although it is part- time. The point I want to

         10  stress is when you are living in the City and

         11  working in the City where you have homeless people,

         12  where people are scratching by, where union members

         13  have to scratch for three, four, five percent

         14  increases and a body that even though it has not

         15  received an increase in some time is looking for a

         16  substantial increase, it just doesn't sit right.

         17                 I also think there is a major ethical

         18  question about anybody voting increases for

         19  themselves. I would like to legislate an increase in

         20  my social security for myself, but I don't think

         21  George Bush is going to agree. I think you have to

         22  look at the ethical question here. I think you

         23  really have to take into account -- I was glad and

         24  I'll wind up with this, when I came in, I spoke with

         25  Ms. Sears for a moment. She said that while she
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          2  supports this program, there is one member of the

          3  Council who is opposing. I said, who is that? She

          4  said, well you will sort of have to guess. I guess

          5  it is Mr. Avella. I really respect him for what he

          6  had said for that.

          7                 At any rate, my position is clear. I

          8  think there are compelling reasons for an increase.

          9  I think you certainly have to get rid of the lulu

         10  system and all of that stuff. But I think you really

         11  have to take place the context in which this takes

         12  place. We have a City where homelessness is

         13  exploding. Can you imagine how a homeless person or

         14  somebody just barely struggling by and who is

         15  getting a rent increase or whatever, experiences

         16  this kind of thing. It makes people angry. I think

         17  it really has to be looked at again.

         18                 I certainly under any circumstances

         19  regardless of how this matter is handled, I think at

         20  least one other certainly more adequately publicized

         21  hearing along these lines is due so that everybody

         22  can get a chance. There were what, five, six, seven

         23  people in the room other than the Council. I think

         24  this is certainly inadequate public input and I

         25  think a great deal is more necessary. I'm pretty
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          2  sure that if you schedule another hearing, a lot

          3  more people will show up. Thanks for the opportunity

          4  anyway.

          5                 CHAIRPERSON FELDER: Thank you very

          6  much. Just for the record, I wanted to mention that

          7  Kathy Casey had signed up to speak, but was unable

          8  to remain. Any of my colleagues have any questions?

          9  Thank you very much.

         10                 (Hearing concluded at 6:13 p.m.)
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